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This cache of primary-source materials was selected from the Landscapes of Injustice research database. 

The materials reflect moments in the history of the forced uprooting, internment, dispossession, and exile 

of Japanese Canadians. They are not meant to provide a coherent or summative account of the history. 

Rather, this cache offers a starting point for considering, for instance,  

• racism and the administrative state,  

• complex and varied responses to state violence,  

• notions of culpability, complicity, and accountability,  

• conceptions of Canadian citizenship and law, 

• relations between Japanese-Canadian dispossession and settler colonial dispossession, 

• and legacies of dispossession and displacement.  

 

Though the federal policies that derailed the lives of nearly 22,000 Japanese Canadians occurred in the 

1940s, this history started both decades earlier and has legacies that extend to the present day. Readers are 

encouraged to consider these documents in connection to these longer histories. Further, this cache offers 

a range of voices from different positions within and relations to this history. These voices include: 

children, men, women, bureaucrats, politicians, lawyers, Japanese Canadians, non-Japanese Canadians, 

journalists, bystanders, and low-level officials. The cache includes the voices of people who were 

children at the time and descendants of people who lived through the 1940s first-hand. We hope that 

readers, having reconstructed their broader context, will read these documents with care and a critical eye.  

 

The full Landscapes of Injustice research database will launch in 2021.  

Find more information about Landscapes of Injustice here: http://www.landscapesofinjustice.com/  

For any questions relating to these materials or Landscapes of Injustice, please contact: Dr. Jordan 

Stanger-Ross, Project Director (jstross@uvic.ca) or Kaitlin Findlay, Research Coordinator 

(kfindlay@uvic.ca)  
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[Excerpt from the diary of Kishizo Kimura. For full text, see: http://witnesstoloss.ca/the-diary-part-one/ ]  

 
Part I: A Memorandum on the Events Surrounding the Liquidation of 
Fishing Boats Owned by Nikkei People 
 
Establishment of the Committee for the Liquidation of Fishing Boats  

January 8, 1942: 

One month after the outbreak of the Pacific War, Major J.A. Motherwell, chief supervisor of fisheries, 

contacted me. He urgently wanted to have a private consultation with me at the Ministry of Fisheries. He 

told me that the provincial government wanted to increase the food supply. They planned to promptly 

release impounded Nikkei fishing boats into the hands of Hakujin and Dojin fishermen so that they could 

go out fishing. An order-in-council was being drafted for this purpose. To facilitate the sale or rental of 

these boats, they were creating a special committee. A judge would be appointed as chairman, with a 

representative from the Ministry of Defence as another member. Mr. Motherwell was to recommend 

myself as a representative from the Nikkei community and urged me to accept. 

The recommended sale prices for seiners and packers were clearly stated in the yearly survey report for 

the purpose of disaster and fire insurance. Their rental price could be easily ascertained by checking past 

charter contracts. However, regarding the smaller boats such as gill-netters, trollers, trawlers, and cod-

fishing boats, no one placed insurance on them because insurance was limited to the total loss. Therefore, 

there was no price recommended in the survey report and hardly any examples of their chartering fees, 

making it very difficult to determine a price. So it was difficult for me to carry out my duties as a 

committee member. 

I stated that there was a Nikkei fishermen’s organization, that Mr. Ritsu Ide had been its director for many 

years, and that he would be the right person for the job. The following day, on the ninth, I called Mr. Ide, 

and he said he had already spoken to Mr. Motherwell that morning and that he had recommended me to 

him. He encouraged me to accept the position, and I made it a condition that the Nikkei fishermen’s 

organization would support me. I promised that I would make up my mind after one day of deliberation. 

I reported back to Mr. Motherwell, and he told me that the draft of the order-in-council had already been 

completed because of the urgency of the situation, and it would take effect on the 12th. The committee 

chairman and member from the Ministry of Defence had already been chosen. 

Before this happened, Nikkei volunteers from Vancouver and the surrounding area had met regularly in 

Vancouver to discuss their wartime safety. Recalling the anti-Nikkei riots of 1907, which had occurred 

during peacetime, they were afraid of the current mood of the population in this time of war. There was 

anxiety, fear, and even hatred being directed toward them. If an incident occurred, it would be very 

difficult to protect women, children, and the elderly. The group had been discussing their temporary 

evacuation to a safe place before the threat became urgent. On the 11th of January, I visited their meeting 

place and summarized, to the people in the fishing industry, the conversation I had had with Mr. 

Motherwell. They promised to back me up whenever necessary. 

Early on the morning of the 12th, there was a call from Mr. Motherwell. He persuaded me to accept the 

committee position, saying that both the chairman and the member from the Ministry of Defence were 

familiar to me. 

http://witnesstoloss.ca/the-diary-part-one/












TO: r. F. G •. Shears 

FRO: Mr. U. B. Spain 

RANDU • .i 

October ~9th, 1946. 

As y period of e ploy n with the Custodiui termi ates on 
tne 31 t I ha~e be n reviewing the activities of the P ·ot ction Depart nt 
as Ienco ntered t e. 

In th fir t pl c .a engaged by r. Drewry on [arch 13th, 
1942, to proce_d the following day to Hastin s Park to co .. Nt,;nce th regis­
tration of J panese. \ie opened office the e in the Mess Hall or Dining oom 
ith any .ind of ake shift materif,.l avai ble. J had typi ts, typewriters 

and registration forms, £ind before the re 5iutrat ens ere com~ et d, the 
Bureau hud been shifted around the bu ldings four tim to uit the convenience 
oft e B. c. Security Com:nission. The problems enco tered by th0 Custodian 
w re eviden y consi e.ed a of ver-3 second ry import nee' d embers of the 
B.C. Security Co 1~s n ado it uite obvious tnet ti y reg de the ho~is­
tration Bureu.i s a nuisance. Colla.boratin ,1th uch L·bour Depa tG nt o;.fic-
ials , s not GEl"'-Y, d e h to exercise p tience, to er ce end dee ncy . i th 
the Japane eat the s ti,. The final big ev cu tion of J pane~e took place 
on October 24th, 1942, hen I wa trun fer.red from H stin s Park to this office 
to assist r. reen. The so c led pri. .. ary protection and tt.e 1 emov l of 
chattels had ready been in effect for about six months •• r. ureen as ed e to 
supervise the V 1couver District, and in order tog in an intelligent 5 rasp of 
th probl, s invo ve I acco pariied ave bmith to our warehouse t 99 Po ell St. 
and coill!Ilenced asking a lot of question • 

An examin tion of the torage arrangements, then in charge oft e 
Crone btorage Co. pany, q ckly convfoced e that everythi g was beir.g done in a 
ver:y haphazard e.rmer. C ones woul do t e moving into tne 1 a:r·eho..tse durir the 
day, d leave the stackin, s -amping an listing until nightf 1 {tog t overt~ e 
I pres a). The faulty electric i 1 ination in the warehouse ,,de careful .ork 
impossible and Crones employees ere ppr ntly q ite irrespons bl. rhcy •st 
h v been there tag and bob tail element of Vanco ver, and so e of tie lists 
they ade ere ~ust so uch illiter~te scribble. As ex· ple I 0ul~ ~sk yo• 
to examine Inventory No. 190 in the arehouse. (.Jr. ills i l brln .... thio up if 
yo inst uct him). It is tr e there was a serious un po er shortage at t ls tie 
and more ucr tive erk as obtainable in haulin • ar contract , etc. In y 
event Crones was u very unhappy choice and Is bmitted to Mr. ureon a verbal report 

d re com -endation that we diE.continue their servic s d ndeavoi.u· to e ploy other 
r.1or efficient truckers. ..tr. r en ccepted y recoJIL n ation at ore and ve 
Smith s con~ulted s to the best trucker free to undert e n ork. The only 
one fr e to consi er moving chattelu at the time as uel Bar1ett ho did not seem 
to .1i d the dirty or·. Th chp..:nge . s sati factor; nd much more econo ical, but 
the docum-ntary met1od of ha.ndlin the chattel l ft much to be desired. ~ this 
tie I felt t.ut a much be ter co trol and record c uld be kept if ,e hc.d o. trip­
lie te system of lists, · d I prepured such an exam le th-t ou.d embody all the 
necessary details. This example was su i tted to th o fice t it w, .. ,:s pro ptly 
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rejected as unnecess r-y, particul rly an effort was being de at that 
ti to minimize tl.e sti..tio ery xperise. I did succeed ho ever in h vin a 
small form imeogr ph d pste.irs which g ve th field st ff so-e se b ance of 
what to expect at a givon ddre , and return of th.a one heot to e ith a 
brief report enabled me to writ a circ ar form of letter to the J panese 
to the effect that t11eir chattels ere not found at the ddreos ,iv n Ei.Ild that 
e presumed t!iey ad disposed or' s· ne prior to evacu tion. 

Our field st,lff nev.Jr had s of iden tifyin" t emsol vea 
with t1e todian o 'fice, and in any instances ten nts req ired a lot of con-
vine ng. In th~s connection I i ht state that the Dep~rt ent of L~bour g~ve 
11 of t eir mployee a c rd sta.t.lnb thu t ey were in t e employ of that 
ep rt! nt. In case of need I per anally ho.d a letter frocr the lili tur; Author-

ities authorizing to interrogate P/ in the Immigr tion B ilding, end a ai i .r 
letter frn t e . i it ry authorizing e to take photo~,1· phs in the Defense Are , 
but none o~ those in the fi ld had sch identification. 

The Depar ent of L our i conj ction ith the R.C. i.P. ~dopted 
av ry rbitrary practic of givin to Jap n se an evacu: tion d te notice ithout 
giving u...: s ilar dvance notice of such int ntions. 'l'h fir t notice we received 
o such ev cu~tion as a day or to after the ev cuation had been de, nd this 
necessitated quick action by our field st ff to reach t former ho es of' the 
J panese before tie thieves moved in. In &:ny ca es e ree.ched t1e scone too te 
and either the thieves had arrived fir.,t, o the Je.p ese had already so many 
of their ch tte s between th d te of r gistration d the d te of evncu tion. 
ne Protection De rtm nt regarde~ tie, elves as fortunate hen t ey fo d tre 

rem r"' of the b con and e s on the still :uI'lll breakfast dishes. It only eant 
cleaning the dishes. Th n there w regs or electric stoves and ter f xture~ to 
to bo di·connected. The alls, basement mid attics htd to be xamin ·1th the 
eye of a. detective for p e s th t so:mdad ollow to t·.e touch or showed si :ns of 
rec nt wal papa ing which might conceal personal property. It s probably a 
arrowing experience to the Jrp ~e and Isa plenty of ,vidence of mental dis-

turb ce. For inst ce , r.,. :,;AN o d require an e pty c rton to ck dishes 
and ould rush cross the street ond borrow on frora rs. KONDO. T1e carton, still 
bea.rin 0 t e name of rb. KOrD::i, wo d be credited to l' when th carton re ched 
the rehouse. ar.y Jap nese omen believed that their friends wo· d not be evac-

ted; that tne war ollld bo fini e soon; t. t they woJld be b ck themwelves, 
tc., md -..ft their chattels strewn around t.1e country in anyone I s charge. Tn s 

did not help tie Protecti0n Dep t:Ient ·n identifyin chattel • 

arehouse ·ere scarce, or ntirely unobt·in ble, and as the ch ttels 
continued to accumulate, the problem of storu e cco odation bee. e more· cute. 
T1en c me the very belated orders from Ott wa to sell t.e chattels by uction. If 
the powers that be h d exercised a little ore lraaginati n d initiative to years 
earlier, many tholl ands of dol s could bu. ve been s ved. l'nen Tho pson and 
Binnington were engaged to conduct t'1e auctions. 'rh most port nt con ider tion 

s far as the auctions ere concerned was to get the right re istr,tion n bers on 
the auction lists. In preparing t eae li ts on the d y prior to tne auction, Hr. 
Tho pson wo d compile t10 lists, whi e hi sistant lr. Bensen, wo d c l up 
from the floor description o the ticle d the regi t1·ation nu;:;ber. s ·r. 
B nsen receiv d the munificent sum of fi ty cen s per hour for such ork, he , s 
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not partic arly interest-..d in getti g the right numbers 1:md ,ould. c l S'/3..Y 
"13752" as ,,13257'', etc. Thi did not help us very much when the uction 
sheets reached l i s Girard in the office. I do not believe many auction 
lists re ched t.is office ithout nu..~eral istakes of so e ind. 

en we took over the Hompd. B idhist Temple at 604 East Cordova 
Street. for storage purposes, it h d been in use by the B. C. Security Commission 
for the cc ulation and propar tin of shipm nts of supplies to their Interi 
Housing Centers. In talcing over the building from them I asked for an inventory 
of the contents and was informed there w · none, notwi th..,t · ndiug the f ct thut 
one lw.·ge room w s filled to the ceiling and door with Jape.ne .. e chuttels, which 
co ... ld not then be inventoried o ing to con estion, and expense .,.1 time required 
for swa.mping. As the B. C. S curity Com.~ission did not ask us to sien a list of 

contents, I did not rai e the point gain. 

en e were not cont ndin it thi vos, e h~d floods in 992 
Po ell Street basement, nd also at 154 Vi. 5th Ave. he stor ge p ces , ere 
infested with ruts, moths and othor bedete d de 1zens. ~ne J pane~e ~eft fish 
and other foods in their boxe which invited tro ble. 

In saying goodbye to the office, I~~ . ingcate if I did 
not mention how much I have appr ciuted an enjoyed the saociatio rith every 
memb r of the whole stuff. Te exporienc ha been entert i:in", in ere titig 

nd ein, d has en blod e to ~eep myself org ized for the resumption of 
my work in the field of international rude and co erce. 

th ks to you. per onally for all 
the succession of obstr~ctions In concluding I _sh to xpress 

of your v·l ed advice in meeting and overco in 
we have encouritered in this extraordinary ta k. 

GBS:LB.d 
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START OF TAPE 1 

00:00:00 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Why don’t you talk about what it was like when you left Vancouver when you found out that you were 
going to have to leave, how did that go?  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

It was kind of hard because by that time my dad was in the internment camp because, like I said, he 
was a Japanese National and being enemy aligned they have to send them to Petawawa. And then my 
brother ended up in Angler, Ontario, but another thing was this immigration building. They were 
taken into this immigration building in Vancouver that was right at the bottom of Granville Street. 
That’s where the CPR Station was. And we could only go up there, they wouldn’t let us in the building, 
but the first group of Japanese nationals that they rounded up, they were all stuck in this immigration 
building and the wives could go in and talk to their husbands, but then it was like a guard was 
standing in the room. This was the first group. And when that immigration building got full, then they 
shipped them all out to Petawawa. Then they started getting the second group, which was my dad, 
which was in the second group. By that time, they wouldn’t let the wives into the room. We could only 
go outside and yell at them through the window and that’s what we did just about every afternoon. 
And walk down to the immigration building and we yelled it. Somebody would say, “Oh Mr. Omakoshi, 
there’s your family there.” So he would come out to the window and it’s barred.  

 



                               
 
KYLA FITZGERALD 

Oh.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

But it’s open so we’d just come in and wave your hands like. And then we found out that they were 
going to ship this group of people to the interment camp on the train so that afternoon we went to 
see my dad and all I could remember is my dad yelling and he’s telling my mother, “Make sure you 
eat good food. Don’t skimp on your food and stay healthy.” He was quite focused on eating good food 
like we did. And that was it. Well then after he got shipped to Petawawa, there were more groups. 
They took in the naturalized Canadians, they all got in and then after that they started getting the 
Japanese Nisseis in. and while there was one group they kind of protested, that the food was bad or 
something. So they had a riot in there. They threw toilet paper out of the window and everything.  

 

KYLA FITZGERALD 

Oh really?  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

Ever since then, they stopped people from going to the building. They completely didn’t let us go to 
the building. And the only way was here was your building, and this is Hastings Street and there’s 
quite a lot of distance away and that’s the only way you can see this building. So we would walk up 
to Hastings Street and there’s kind of a guardrail and we would lean on and we could see the building 
down there. And you could see the people, but you can’t see the faces, but you can see the men waving 
their hands out of the window. And then I got the idea I said one day, “Mom, we could send letters 
into the immigration building,” just a note, of course it would be censored. So I said mom, “Lets do 
something. I’ll put a red handkerchief in the envelope and write to Johnny and tell him if you see a 
red handkerchief like us waving, you come to the window and wave at us.” 

 

KYLA FITZGERALD 

And can I ask who was Johnny?  

 



                               
 
BETTY TOYOTA 

John is my brother.  

 

KYLA FITZGERALD 

Oh okay.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA  

Okay. Yeah so the next day we went and the three of us, like my two sisters and my mom and I, we 
went and raved this red handkerchief. And somebody must have said, ‘There’s somebody waving a 
red handkerchief.” So naturally my brother came out and he was waving his red handkerchief. And 
then we knew he was okay that he was there. But then that story caught on and soon there was a 
white handkerchief, blue handkerchief – [Everybody laughs] 

 

KYLA FITZGERALD 

A rainbow of handkerchiefs.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

White handkerchief. That’s how handkerchief started.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Handkerchief started… 

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

And then that place got full so they were all shipped out to the interment camp we found out. Then 
we found out that the instead of sending them to Petawawa they sent them to Angler. And that was 



                               
 
it. But another thing was going out on the train. They send them out on the train. And every night at 
seven o’clock the CPR train would go by our Alexander Street. The train track is just down below 
Alexander Street. And our Japanese School happened to be on Alexander Street and every night – you 
know those days nobody wore watches. We didn’t have any watches. And we had Japanese school 
from 6:00 to 7:30 and we couldn’t get out at 7:30. But every night, twenty after seven the train went 
by so we could tell when the train went by, “Oh it’s twenty after 7:00, ten more minutes and we’ll be 
out of school.” And that was the longest ten minutes. But anyway when they started shipping all these 
people out, we couldn’t go to the immigration building. All we could go was go down to Alexander 
Street and watch the train go by and then we could see the men in the train waving their hands. But 
you know what it’s like a train going, how are you going to pick out your father or your brother just 
like that. You can’t see anybody but somebody would say, “Oh I saw Johnny on the train, he was on 
the train.” Oh somebody would say, “Oh Mr. Omokoshi was on the…” but then every night, everybody 
used to walk down to Alexander Street to see the train go by because at that time they were sending 
people to ghost camp too. Ghost towns on the train, right. So that was another thing. Every other night 
we would go down Alexander and watch these people go down on the train and that was quite a thing 
too. And then we got the notice that we had to go to Slocan and you’re only given 48 hours notice. 
And the reason we went to Slocan was see they were all told where to go. Like the doctors were told 
to go here, the dentists were told to go here. Ministers, Kaslo was the United Church minister, 
Greenwood was the Catholic nun, Slocan was the Anglican. New Denver was the Buddhist Priest and 
that’s how it went. And my sister worked for this dentist in Vancouver and he was told to go to Slocan. 
So the dentist said, “Well if I go to Slocan, I want my nurse. Like my aid to go.” So that’s how we ended 
up in Slocan.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Because of Margaret.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

And then once we got to Slocan we had to live in this tent. And the tent you can see the replica of it in 
[Unclear due to cough]. And I remember the first time we went, they showed us our tent, we were 
each assigned a tent. It’s only about that big. There were two double beds in the tent; it’s just made 
of –  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Canvas.  



                               
 
 

BETTY TOYOTA 

Four studs and a board across and that was it. That was our bed. And on each bed was this – they 
called it a palius. It’s a ticking made of blue and white ticking. Mattress cover. And they called it a 
palius, double bed side. And the man said, “You take this palius, go out in the field and fill it up with 
straw,” out in the field there was a whole pile of straw or hay, I don’t know what it was. But we had 
to fill this up and bring it back to the tent and that was our mattress. And we were each given a gray 
blanket, one of those itchy two, two itchy gray army blankets. And that was our bed.  

 

MIKE ABE 

How many in the tent?  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

How many in the tent? Just me and my sister.  

 

MIKE ABE 

Okay.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

And your mother.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA  

Oh yeah and my mother. There was just the three of us, it was just the family. I don’t know how many 
other people lived. But at least four people could live in the tent. And I can’t remember what we did 
about our pillow or bed sheet. We brought it with us but it was still in the baggage car. But that’s how 
we stayed and for two months.  



                               
 
 

JOY TRAPNELL 

And then how did you get out of the tent?  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

How did we what?  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

How did you get out of the tent? Like, why did you get moved?  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

We moved because we were in there. We left Vancouver the day after Labour Day, September, 
October, we were in that tent.  And you know how cold it gets? And Japanese are smart. They think 
of something.  

0:10:00 

They’re always thinking of something. And we got to know this one young fellow; he used to come 
over every tide day. And he was the carpenter. So you know the nail kegs, they used to come in a keg. 
All the nails, got one of those nail kegs, made a little foundation made of wood and filled it up with 
rocks and gravel and put this nail keg upside down and made a hole in the front and then he made a 
hole in the top. And by that time the commission would give us stovepipes. You would go down to the 
head commission warehouse and there was this Japanese man in Vancouver. He was a tinsmith and 
he made these things called roof jack. You know how you have a roof and there’s this tin and the pipe.  

 

MIKE ABE 

Oh yeah.  

 



                               
 
BETTY TOYOTA 

They called it a roof jack. So we were allowed to go down to the commission – the warehouse and get 
two pipes and a roof jack. So that roof jack would go out from the flat of the tin. So we had enough 
little fuel to burn in this little nail keg with the smoke going up the roof. And that kept our little tent 
warm enough.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL AND MIKE ABE  

Wow.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA 

That’s how we kept. And then naturally October the 31st it snowed. And out tent caved in from the 
snow, weight of the snow. And I thought, “Oh my god we got bombed.” And that was it. So the next 
morning there was no place to go so they moved us into the house. They’re building this shack, but 
the house – it was the way they distributed people into the house was the way they came in. So you 
had to go by name like the people that were there first got the empty house. And the houses, they 
couldn’t build these shacks fast enough for the people to live. And that’s how we had to live in a tent 
‘til we got the shack. But then we managed and lucky to share a shack. But another thing was as long 
as you were living in the tent, you had to eat in the mess hall. How else can you get – there’s no way 
of cooking. It was just the parent. So we went into the mess hall and this mess hall used to be this old 
skating rink in Slocan. So naturally the floor is dirt and they’ve just built tables out of old wood and 
benches. And that was the mess hall. And then you go in and you have to line up, like the working 
men ate first as soon as they came from their work about five o’clock or twelve o’clock. They would 
eat first. So the men and the women and children, old men and women and children, they had to line 
up outside. Wait in line ‘til the men finished eating. But naturally we were working in the office right? 
So as soon as the men finished eating, we could go down and eat. But the first time we went to eat in 
the mess hall, you have to wait in line, walk in line and there’s a stack of tin plates and I would swear, 
I’d swear that they must’ve picked it out of the dump at some army camp or something. They were 
dented, some were rusty and then every now and then you’d see this white rim and you’d think, “Oh 
it’s an enamel plate, I’ll get that.” And pull it out and you know how enamel is when it gets old you get 
this black spot, it’s got black spots and knife, but that’s what we had to eat. And then they show your 
food, you line up and you go and they line up and throw food in. And I remember I had happened to 
be in front of my mother and I looked at her and her face just turned white. I could still see her. I mean 
in Vancouver, my dad was quite particular about the food we ate. That’s why he yelled at us, mom to 
make sure you eat good food right? And we ate out of good chinaware. We had the Noritake 
chinaware set, we ate good food. And to see all this slaw, to us it was slaw. It was just something else. 
Yeah. And then Japanese there was an old saying, tengoku, means heaven and jikoku means hell. Mom 
used the first, quite a while she was saying it was just like tengoku too, for her. And it was like that 
for us. And then here we moved into the house. Well it was a shack, but to us it was an old wood stove. 



                               
 
We had a gas stove in Vancouver, we had oil heat. Mom wasn’t used to cooking on a wood stove. So it 
was all a new experience for her. So I often thought, no wonder it must’ve been hard on my mother. 
But she never complained, not once. We would complain every now and then. But mom never did 
because she said, “Think of your dad and think of your brother. They’d be worst.” And no indoor 
plumbing, outside we had to go and fetch water with a pail. And for every six houses, three on that 
side and three on this, there was a washstand. And you’d go to New Denver and you see this replica 
of the washstand. It’s just a wooden box, and then there’s this pipe, it’s sticking out. And you turn the 
water and you fill your pail and you come home. And it was – my mother and my younger sister, they 
looked after the water all the time. So after supper, it was my older sister and my turn to go and fetch 
water for the night. And I remember this one day, I told you.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Yes you did.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA  

It was my turn to go fetch the water so I go get the water, fill it up, this is in the wintertime. Fill it up 
two pails and start to turn around and naturally it’s all icy because everybody else is getting water 
and you know how it splashes, and everything is icy around and I turned to go and I slipped and I fell, 
two pails full of water just spilled. And I’m telling Joy, I told you, “I just swore my head off.” [Joy 
laughs] I don’t know where the words came from. I just swore and I thought, “What did I do to deserve 
this?” And that’s the only time I felt so angry about being in an interment camp like a ghost town. 
That’s how it was, you had to get used to it. You had to fetch water every time.  

 

JOY TRAPNELL 

Tell the story about the money. About grandpa, your father and how he knew and he took all the 
money and gave it to grandma.  

 

BETTY TOYOTA  

Well I told you that didn’t – Oh the money when the war started my dad knew right away. You know 
how rumors go around? That they were going to get all the Japanese nationals because they were 
enemy aliens and they were going to round them up and deport them. Japan. So naturally the first 
thing that my dad thought was the money. So he went took all his money out of the bank, I think there 



                               
 
were two banks he dealt with. Took all the money out of the bank and then he had three insurance 
policies on his life. Got all the money out of the insurance policy because he lost quite a bit too, right?  
But at least he had the cash. And then he was going to sell his house and get the money, but by that 
time, they had frozen all the Japanese, they froze the houses, right? So he couldn’t get the money. But 
what we didn’t know was that my mother all during that time she carried all this cash with her. And 
that’s how we were able to buy a few things and all that.  

 

KYLA FITZGERALD 

Can we go back a bit, Betty, to your childhood?  

[. . .] 

 

 

















T

Department of Labour

BEITISH COLUMBIA SECURITY COMMISSION

New Denver, B.O.,
March 28th, 1945. '■ . .".V

Mr. A, MacNa&era, Deputy Minister of Labour, Ottawa,

I have nCw completed my visit to all the Settlements in the
Interior. We had our last meeting with the New Denver and Roseberry
Committees this morning.

I thought you would be interested in the general re-action
which I have observed, and a summary of the main questions which we
have been asked by the Japanese people.

In listing the main questions which we have been asked, I
am setting forth belOTr each, the verbal answer which we have given.
Some of the Committees have submitted their questions in writing and
have requested written replies. Before acceding to this request, we
think you should see the verbal ansvrers we have given, and correct
us on any points in v;hich you think the answers are not v;ise. There
are one or two questions which we admitted quite frankly we could
not answer and promised to procure replies from Ottawa,

(a) Will relocees to Eastern Canada receive treatment as full
fledged Canadian citizens?

t-

Answer;We have replied quite frankly to this question that there are
some details on which there is still some uncertainty. We
suggested that it was not likely that this question vjould be
fully decided in all its aspects until after the Loyalty
Tribunal had been appointed and had completed its work.
In the meantime, we were only asking people to relocate in
other Provinces to fill specific Jobs for which employers
had requested Japanese labour. We explained to them, that
because of this insecurity and several other questions
which v;ere still in doubt about the future for Japanese
people remaining in Canada, the Government was offering
generous provisions for repatriation to those voluntarily
applying, if they come to the conclusion that the outlook
is not too bright for staying in Canada.

(b)Wlll relocees be given full rights to private enterprise,
occupational freedom and a right to own and rent property,
real and otherwise?

Anss We told them that a complete and satisfactory answer could not
yet be given to this question; In the meantime, they were
being asked to accept employment, and work for salaries or
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•rases, until the question of acquiring their
own property and going into businesB, was settled. We
pointed out the present regulations \srhioh apply, concerning
the renting of residential property. According to
Mr. Broirn, this whole question is now under advisement,
and we are likely to have some further information shortly.

(o) Will freedom of travel and transfer of residence in any
part of Eastern Canada be permitted during and after the war?

Anas We explained that so far as during the war is concerned, the
same regulations, concerning travel will apply. While the war
is on, the Japanese people will still remain under the
jurisdiction of the Japanese Division, Department of Labour.
Excepting B.C., travelling without a permit is allowed
within a Province but permission must be secured to cross
Provincial boundaries* So far as transferring of residence
is concerned during the war, where a change of employment
may be involved, we said that this could be arranged by our
Eastern Placement Officers as new employment was found, and
as housing accommodation could be obtained. So far as regul
ations after the war were concerned, we explained that details
of this still had to be decided*

(d) What is the policy of the disposal of liquidated assets of
Eastern relocees, now held in trust by the Custodian?

Anst We explained that the same rule would apply as at present
where Japanese people permanently relocating outside B. C.,
would be provided with the assets from the sale of their
property, when such sales were made.

(•) In the event of anti-racial violence and consequent damages
sustained, will the Dominion Government hold themselves
responsible for rectifications?

Ans j The Japanese people will have the same rights to police
protection as any other people residing in a particular
Province or locality, and will have the same rights to
resort to the Courts for claims against damage to property,
but the Dominion Government could not commit itself to

paying for damages sustained. One person asked us, if on
relocating East, and he was accosted by several who might
have reached an advance stage of inebriation, would he be
protected from violent actions on their part. We replied
that he would have the same police protection that anyone
else would have under the same circumstances.
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(3)

(a) Bo raloeeeB to other ProTincea remain under the Jurisdlotlon
of the B, C* Security Oommission or do they seyer further
relations and come under the Jurisdiction of the Proyincial
Government?

Ana t We aaiplained that Japanese evacuated from the Protected Area
would remain under the Jurisdiction of the B. 0. Security
Oommission so long as the war with Japan lasted* At the
same time, the Dominion Government might work out, with the
Provinces concerned, certain Joint administrative arrangements
for their relocation and resettlement.

(b) Where a relocee becomes destitute owing to illness or otherv/ise
unemployable 3

(1) Will maintenance or relief be granted?

Ans: The Department of Labour will continue to assume responsibility
for the welfare of the Japanese evacuated from the Protected
Area, and where maintenance is required, this will be provided.

I (2) Will the Provincial or Dominion Government be responsible
for the relief?

Anst The Dominion Government will see that the relief is provided,
but it is probable that the arrangements might be made with
the Provincial Government for the administrating of the relief,

{3) Will there be any supplementation to income where
ever it is deemed necessary by the relief authorities?

Ans: We reiterated the ansvjer given to (b) (1), where we said that
the Dominion Government would see that maintenance would be
provided where it was required.

(o) Will the Elementary and High School education of relocees be
granted on an equal basis as all other residents of the Province?

Ana: We pointed out that Education was the responsibility of the
Provincial Government, and not the Dominion Government, and
we could not say definitely what would apply.

(d) Is there any definite policy regarding military service?

Ans3 What they wanted to know was whether they would be called up
for military service if permanently relocated. We replied
by saying that to our knowledge, there is no change con*
templated in the present policy whereby people of Japanese
origin were not called up for military service, or were not
accepted when voluntarily applying.
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^ (•) will those wishing to remain in Oanada and who are presently
employed in British Oolumbia, or in the Interior Housing Project,
be permitted to retain their jobs until such time as they are
suitably relocated and in the case of the unemployed, will
the British Oolumbia Security Oommission provide maintenance
allowance until they are to be relocated to a suitable job.
If so, will this apply to single persons, physically fit and
over 18 years old?

Ansj We said that those presently engaged in private employment in
British Columbia would not be required to leave that employment,
but would be permitted to leave that employment in order to
take advantage of employment outsidd of British Oolumbia.

For those Japanese Oanodians employed in the Projects, we said
that if we had suitable jobs to offer them outside of British
Oolumbia, we would consider justifiable removing them from
Oommission employment.

-I

We said that the British Oolumbia Security Oommission would
meet its responsibility for maintenance if suitable employment
was not available.

So far as physically fit 18 years and over are concerned, we
explained that those wanting to remain in Canada would be
expected to take essential employment when we had it to offer
them.

0. (a) Where a person now residing in Eastern Canada applies for
repatriation:

(1) Will he be able to return to the Interior Housing Project
immediately following his application?

Ana I

Ana:

We said that those who sign voluntary applications would be
permitted to return to our Interior settlements just as soon
as we could make housing accommodation available.

(2) Will he be permitted to remain at his present place of
employment until repatriation can be arranged?

We replied saying that he wojild be able to continue in his
present employment so long as it lasted until repatriation could
be arranged.

(3) Should his application for repatriation result in
his unemployment, will he be sent back to the Interior
Sousing Project?
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He probably would be, but where there were clroumstances
which from his point of -view made this very undesirable, we
could probably arrange for his maintenance In the Province
where the unemployment occurred*

' f
- f' -

'  (4) Will traneportation be proyided for those signing
voluntary applications returning to the Interior
Housing Project?

Ane S In caees where individuals were properly authorized by us to
return, the transportation will be paid.

3* (b) Will Japanese Nationals wishing to remain in Canada be permittee
to relocate East as permanent residents?

1

Ans t We said that v?here there was nothing on record of the Japanese
National which we would consider would be of particular
significance to the Loyalty Tribunal, we would assist in their
relocation if they requested it, in the same manner as
Japanese Canadians.

(c) Will those internees who can be released but who have refused
Eastern employment, be permitted to rejoin their families in
the Interior Housing until such time vfhen they can be repatriated^

Anst I had some doubts about this question, but suggested that there
was little likelihood that Internees would be released from the
Internment Camp to return to the B. C, settlements while the
war with Japan was still in progress.

(d) Has the British Columbia Security Commission some definite
policy regarding the present so-called rehabilitation reserve
of those applying for repatriation. Where this minimum has
been reached, will the Commission give maintenance thereafter
and leave this amount Intact for transfer upon repatriation,
or do they become wards of the Canadian Government regardless
of what funds they have on hand?

Ans) I replied that I would need further clarification on this point
from Ottawa before giving a definite answer. 1 said that I
was reasonably sure that the minimum reserve would be left
intact, but that amounts in excess of the minimum reserve might
have to be used before maintenance is provided.

I wonder if you might clarify this for us. In view of
what is eaid in the statement signed by the Minister of Labour, are
we not obligated to provide maintenance to voluntary repatriates
regardless of the amount of their assets? This question has been
asked several times and seems to be quite an important factor in
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■^^eir deliberations about repatriation. 1 suppose, according to the
tual wording of the statement signed by the Minister, we only

secure to them the net proceeds fror the disposition of their
property which stands to their credit at the time of repatriation.
I would suggestj that if requested, maintenance be provided to
voluntary repatriates regardless of the amount of their asr-ets.

(a) With reference to those applying for repatriation}

(1) Will Elementary sohoollng of children be continued?

Ana i

•5,-

An91

Ansi

'■

.  Anaj
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Ana t

The present achooling facilities provided by the Commission
will be continued for voluntary repatriates until such time
as repatriation could be arranged.

(E) Will teachers applying for repatriation remain on
the staff and be permitted to attend the Teachers'
training Summer School?

They will be permitted to remain on the teaching staff and
to attend the Summer School.

(3) How will the Vital Statistic records be looked after
for voluntary repatriates?

The same system as at present for recording Vital Statistics
will be continued until such time as repatriation can be
arranged.

(4) Will a person having applied for repatriation be
permitted to cancel his application and remain in.
Canada if he has acceptable reasons?

We said that those who have already made application for
repatriation could apply to the R.O.M.P#, Ottawa, to have
these applloetlons cancelled. We doubted, however, unless
the circumstances are very exceptional, that favorable
consideration will be given to cancellation later, of

We said that those applying for repatriation would not be
permitted to relocate outside of British Columbia, but that
we would facilitate the taking of employment in British
Columbia outside of the protected area, for those wishing

applications made on a new form, v;hen the R.O.M.P. Detachment
takes these applications. V,'e explained that the signing of
these applications was strictly voluntary, and decisions made
now, should be considered final.

(f) Will those applying for repatriation be permitted to relocate
individually or as a family unit, to any part of British
Columbia and Eastern Canada?
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to beoom© erarloyed.

Aub t

Itll Oa^a«ian Japanese applies for repatriation whatarrangements have been made by the Canadian Government withthe Japanese Government to secure Japanese citizenship?

nf fhf i?? frlme Minister, in his announcementof the policy concerning Japanese in Canada, that in the
f  Tapani arransements would be made

G«n«rtA wL receive people of Japanese origin fromCanada who are being repatriated after the war. 2 stated
that voluntary repatriates would not bo despatched to
made! satisfactory diplomatie arrangements had been

Wishes to remain in Canada, but due to certain
must remain in the Project; will the authorities

till »!n due consideration, and if permitted totay, will they be given maintenance or suitable amployment?
Anst I said that the Dominion Government would continue to esaume

responsibility for the welfare of the Japanese
J'rotected Area. If they could not befrom the Project, and maintenance vjes roauired. It

would be provided, " -ixcu, iv

signs for repatriation and the other does not.what about the position of the children under 16 years of age?
Ana I I said that I would need to get further clarification on thispoint from Ottawa, but that I felt that It was most lik^l/tLt

the father would be considered as the guardian of the children
In cases however, where the evidence showed that the mother

responsible for the support of the children, and the
father had not contributed to their suyport, the mother
would likely be considered the guardian, and her action in
Signing would determine the position of the children.

couple desire to get married, but one signs and the other
does not, will the marriage be prohibited?

saring that such a B&tuation would beost unlikely. It would seem strange that a couple would be
planning a marriage when one knew that he or she would be
going to Japan and the other was staying in Canada. We
would not likely prohibit the marriage for these reasons.

6. How about the Japanese nationals who do not wish to be
repatriated, and who may have some other desires or wishes
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Ana I

7.

Ans i

(8)

would th«y oome under the eame treatment as Japanese Oanadians?

I answered this "by Saying that until such time as the Loyalty
Tribunal had been appointed and completed its work^ this
Administration would treat Japanese Nationals the same as
Japanese GanadianSi except that we would be making particular
effort to encourage Japanese Oanadians not signing applications
to relocate outside of British Columbia,

Will the children under 16 years of age, whose parents sign
for repatriation now, be required to sign individual
applications if they reach 16 years of age before repatriation
can be arranged"?

1 stated that X thought this would likely be necessary, but
I would refer it to Ottawa for clarification. I expect It
would be necessary for xis to see that this v7os done, I would
like to have your opinion as to whether you consider that
children who reach the age of 16, if their parents have signed
for repatriation, will have the opportunity of stating that
they do not wish to be associated with that request.

While I am still reserving judgment, the impressions
given to me during this trip, suggest that there will be a substantial
percentage of the Japanese in the settlements signing applications.
The lowest estimate I hove been given is 40^ and the highest 80jJ,
It is however, irery difficult to say# One of the principal factors
encouraging repatriation, seems to be that voluntary repatriates will
be kept in British Columbia, Another important factor encouraging
repatriation has been the reaction In the other provinces to our
announcement. They have repeatedly raised the question of the
iunfavourable reaction in the other provinces to permanent settlement
!in those pror'nces.

This was naturally an extremely difficult question for
us to discuss with them, I stated quite frankly thet this bad
Ireaotion was fairly universal across the country and undoubtedly it
would make conditions more difficult for the Japanese taking employment
iin those provinces, 1 said to them at the same time that this
[jsituation existed, it was a fact, and they must be realistic In facing
|thiB fact. It vias because of this possible reaction that the Oovorn-
fment was offering generous terms of assistance to those who oome to the
sconclusion that conditions might be too difficult for them in Canada,
iand the opportunity might be better in going to Japan, I emphasized
I that the signing of these applications was strictly voluntary. No pres--
I sure whatsoever was being exerted. Those however, who do not sign,
know the facts and the difficulties ahead, and would have to be
prepared to meet these difficulties and the existing uncertainties,
I reiterated that we were not asking those who do not sign, to leave
British Columbia unless we had specific jobs which we considered
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-.J^itel5le» and in vhlch they could make a livelihood, to offer them,
we had jobs which we coneider suitable, we, however, expect the

Japanese Oanadians to take then.

I think it would be helpful, if no disclosure was
made of our estiraations of the percentages of people who may sign.
I have already been telephoned by the papers in Vancouver, since

i  ooming on this trip, asking for a statement on the general reaction.
I  I stated that 1 was not willing to say anything at this time. One
of the papers has requested permission to be at Tashrae on the first
day that the B.G.M.P* Detachmont reaches the Project. I have turned
down this request, believing it to be most unvjise. I would, however,
appreciate having your advice on this point..

I  If we find at Tashme that a high percentage of the
I people sign applications, should we make this fact public? If the
I percentage is low, I think it would be most unwise, but if it is
I high, there might be some advantage in having this fact publicized#
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JOSH 

Josh Labove, still in Edmonton, Alberta with David Mitsui. So, talking about your grandfather, did he talk 

much about his military experience with you or the evolution of coming out from BC to Alberta to enlist? 

 

DAVID 

My grandfather never spoke a word about his previous life at all, mainly because he didn’t want to recall 

his war experience. He spoke a little bit of English but not a lot of English. Growing up we could 

understand a little bit of Japanese but certainly not have a conversation with him. We could understand 

enough to let him know what we were up to and tell him things that were happening in our life, but not 

for him to sit and tell a story to us or to recount some of his experiences. I learned about my grandfather 

mainly from my dad and my aunts. My grandfather Masumi Mitsui immigrated to Canada in 1908. His 

father was a naval officer in the Japanese navy. He was away a lot when they were battling China and 

other places. But my grandfather wanted to enlist as well. He tried to enlist but for whatever reason, and 

we don’t know why, his enlistment was refused. We think as a result of that, he left Japan and he came to 

Canada. He landed in Victoria and became a dish washer and chauffeur. That’s where he started in 



                               
 
Canada. He became involved in the community I think quite quickly because there was a pretty large 

Japanese immigrant population in the lower mainland already. He moved to the Vancouver area after 

leaving Victoria. That’s when he met his fellow soldiers and they wanted to enlist when World War One 

broke out in 1914. As I said, the British Columbia government wouldn’t let them enlist even though they 

had started to form a Japanese Canadian contingent that wanted to enlist in BC but they had to disband 

because of that. After going to Calgary and then having come back from the war, about fifty percent of 

them did not come back. So they lost about fifty percent. When my grandfather was discharged in April 

1919 and came back to Vancouver, like all the other ones came back to Vancouver as well, the Japanese 

Canadian community raised money and they built the Japanese Canadian War Memorial in Stanley Park 

and it was dedicated to the soldiers of World War One. On one side of the pillar are the names of those 

who returned and the other side of the pillar are those that did not return. At the base are petals outlining 

all the battles that the Japanese Canadian soldiers were involved in.  Still wanting the right to vote, and 

wanting to form a group to lobby the government, they first of all created the local Legion Branch 

Number 9. There was a lot of resistance from other Legions that were mainly white Anglo-Saxon and 

Protestants that were against them. I guess the head of the Legion permitted them to create their own 

branch of Japanese Canadian soldiers, vets. In 1931, my grandfather was the president. They brought 

together a number of vets, as well as Japanese Canadian businessmen and the secretary of the Legion and 

they travelled to Victoria with the sole purpose of lobbying the legislature to get the franchise. After the 

vote, it turned out that they had won the right to vote by one vote from the legislators but it was a hollow 

victory because only the Japanese Canadian vets were given the right to vote in 1931. The rest of the 

Japanese populations weren’t given the right to vote until 1949. When they found out that they had won 

that concession, they returned to Vancouver and their sole purpose at that time was not to celebrate that 

the vets had won the right to vote, but they gathered around the cenotaph and they wanted to honor their 

fallen comrades. So that event was pretty historical. I submitted a proposal to the Honorable Peter Kent 

back in 2007 that the Japanese Canadian veterans of World War One getting their right to vote was a 

historical event and should be identified as such. I got a letter back from him in July of 2011, it took a 

while, stating that he approved my proposal and the Japanese Canadian vets of World War One getting 

the right to vote is a historical event. That started the process of getting a plaque made and getting the 

wording on it embedded and having it installed. So, we’re at the stage now of the wording has been 

embedded, I’m not sure if the plaque has yet been made but we are looking and we put in a request to 

have the plaque installed at the site of the Japanese Canadian War Memorial in Vancouver in Stanley 

Park installed in April of 2016 which is sort of the beginning when the Japanese Canadian war vets were 

enlisted to fight with the Canadian Expeditionary Forces. It’s also the 100th anniversary of World War 

One, and 2017 would be the 100th of Vimy, the battle of Vimy Ridge. So I guess we were waiting 

patiently for this election to be over because nothing is happening during this election period. We were 

hopeful that something is going to happen, can happen, next April. Let’s see, where was I, going back . . . 

So after they won the right to vote, World War Two happened. The Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor on 

December 7th 1941. That brought into play all of the discrimination and prejudice and fear of the yellow 

peril as Barry Broadfoot stated. William Lyon Mackenzie and his cabinet and the BC Premier and his 

cabinet fearing that the Japanese Canadian along the Western Pacific Coast were a threat to their 



                               
 
existence and the War Measures Act was introduced. From my understanding, things happened pretty 

quickly starting in 1942. Some of the men were immediately taken to internment camps or work camps, 

with families to follow. My grandfather owned a seventeen acre poultry farm in Port Coquitlam, and the 

address is 1945 Laurier Avenue. My dad was given permission, and actually I have the certificate, it’s 

called the security certificate that allows him to stay on the farm while he takes care of the house and 

business, and the rest of the family is sent to Greenwood and the internment camps. Shortly after my dad 

left, he went to Greenwood as well. Someone contacted the Mitsui family at Greenwood and said “Your 

house has been basically vandalized.” They were told before they left to put all the valuables in the 

basement and it’ll be there when they got back. The house was broken into and everything was stolen out 

of it. The house was sold by the government, I think I have it written down here, for [long pause] . . . So 

the BC government sold the house and paid the family $2,291.00 dollars minus legal costs to transfer the 

title. It was bought by a person, a fellow named Edward James Gilmore for $893.70 and included a bill of 

sale of everything the family owned including farm tools and, quote, “Japanese fancy goods all packed in 

boxes.” I heard that the family, my grandfather’s family never got the money from the sale of the house. 

The government used it to pay for their internment, okay? We were, my wife’s daughter and her husband, 

moved to Port Coquitlam about five years ago. When we were looking up their address in Port Coquitlam, 

this real estate ad popped up on Google. It had this house for sale, 1945 Laurier Avenue, formerly owned 

by World War One veteran Sergeant Masumi Mitsui. So we clicked on that link and sure enough the 

house was for sale. Only the farm house, not the 17 acres because it’s all developed land now. And the 

family wanted $700,099.00 for it. So my wife said “You need to contact the real estate agent because 

we’re going to be in Port Coquitlam for Thanksgiving.” Which is just the following week. So she sent an 

email to him on his link and within ten minutes we get a phone call. “This is the real estate agent, I’d love 

you meet you. I’ve got a lot of information about your grandfather.” So we were there for Thanksgiving 

and on that Sunday we had a private showing of the house that my grandfather had built and rebuilt in 

1941 because there was a fire. There were four bedrooms and the kitchen was modernized but the rest of 

the house was basically the same. 

 

[00:15:32] 

 

JOSH 

What’s that like? I mean there you are in the house with a real estate agent who’s looking for a 

commission and you’re looking at your grandfather’s prized asset lost from the war and you’re finding it 

through someone who’s getting ready to sell it? 

 

DAVID 

It was, an eerie experience. We thought we would also meet the family who owned it but I think they 

decided to leave the city that weekend. So, we never met the family that lived there that was selling it but 

they had lived there since apparently 1960 or something like that. 

 

 JOSH 



                               
 
And he wasn’t aware of it? 

 

DAVID 

No, but the house was in the process of being designated with some historical designation like a heritage 

home. So it would put limits on what you could do with the house in terms of modernizing it or changing 

the exterior or whatever. It was a cottage style home but it was just, I don’t know, an unreal experience to 

. . . especially just walking . . . The downstairs was pretty much, the kitchen was modernized, the living 

room area and dining room, you know the spaces were the same but it had been upgraded a bit. Going 

upstairs to the bedrooms, the ceiling was rounded and it had like cedar planks, thin planks and four 

bedrooms and I’m thinking, “hmm I wonder which one my dad had and which one was my aunt Lucy and 

my aunt Amy.” You could tell which one was the main, master bedroom. It was . . . yeah. I was thinking 

if things were different and this property was still owned by my grandfather, what it would have been 

like. Then I thought, “well, if he was still here maybe I wouldn’t be here” because of just how things, how 

life continues on. My wife thought that I should contact the, I’m not sure which one, citizenship or 

immigration or whatever and say “you know, maybe you should buy this house and make it into a 

museum because it is historical.” Apparently, the house during the war was used by the Japanese 

Consulate for a period of time. I looked at the farm house on the website recently and apparently it was 

sold just last year 2014 for $600,061.00. You know my wife says “That should be your place” and I 

thought no that’s history. That’s a long time ago and I’m not into digging up old wounds like that and you 

know that’s my history but it’s not my history. It’s my grandfather’s and my father’s place, or was their 

place. It just made me, I guess, very sad.  

 

JOSH  

But not angry? 

 

DAVID 

Not angry, no. And certainly I couldn’t feel angry with the family that currently owned it because they 

were never involved with that and certainly politicians today weren’t involved and it was the political 

atmosphere and climate at the time when World War Two was happening. 

 

JOSH 

Your grandfather didn’t live long enough to see a formal apology or redress. What do you think he 

would’ve thought had he been there to shake Prime Minister Mulroney’s hand or hear those words? 

 

DAVID 

Well, he fought for redress his entire life. He always wanted to have some compensation for loosing that 

property. He never forgave the government for the decisions that led to the internment of the Japanese 

Canadians and losing all the property that was involved. In fact, he was so much bitter about what 

happened to him, he never went to a public Remembrance Day service after World War Two. He was 

always very supportive of the military and respected the military but he never forgave the government. 



                               
 
And that is why on Remembrance Day he would be at home in his military uniform with his Royal 

Canadian Legion beret and his medals. 

 

JOSH 

And you have those medals now? 

 

DAVID 

And I have those medals now. It was not until 1983, he was living in Hamilton with my aunt Amy and her 

husband [Tak?], that a Hamilton Spectator reporter found out that he was living in Hamilton, that he was 

still alive. He interviewed the family and the main Legion in Hamilton learned about his existence and 

they invited him to their Remembrance Day ceremony. That was the first public ceremony he went to 

after World War Two. In 1984, there was a federal election and Brian Mulroney in his platform had 

indicated . . . and because of lobbying from the National Association of Japanese Canadians had lobbied 

for redress. There was a national redress committee that was formed and it was chaired by Art Miki out of 

Winnipeg. They lobbied him during the election about redress and a public apology for the internment. 

Brian Mulroney said “If I’m elected I will support that.” So after he got elected, the redress committee 

went after the Prime Minister and said how are we going to do this and this is what we want and we want 

compensation and that was the start of discussions. There was nothing settled, there was nothing to 

indicate how Brian Mulroney was going to follow through with it. But in 1985, on August the 2nd, the 

War Memorial Committee had raised funds to restore the cenotaph and wanted to rededicate it. They 

invited my grandfather who lived in Hamilton to Vancouver and he was ninety-three at the time. They 

wanted him to be a part of the ceremony. So my two aunts, my dad’s sisters, Amy and Lucy, 

accompanied him to Vancouver. He was given the honor of relighting the lantern at the top of the 

cenotaph. He was in a wheel chair but he stood at attention and he saluted and he said “This is my last 

duty to my comrades.” I think that was sort of the part of the first phase of getting redress talks started by 

having that type of profile. So he passed away in April of 1987 and the public apology and compensation 

came in 1988.  

 

JOSH 

Not too long after. 

 

DAVID 

Nope. He passed away six months before his 100th birthday in September. He was one of the last two 

surviving Japanese Canadian vets of World War One. We think the other one was somewhere . . . may 

have immigrated or returned to Japan, but we’re not sure.  

 

[00:26:08] 

 

JOSH 



                               
 
Yeah but certainly to have served and then to have become an enemy of the state makes his story 

uniquely tragic in many ways. 

 

DAVID 

Well when he had to report to the security commission at Hastings Park, that’s where everybody had to 

report to, he said, “Well, what good are these medals” and he threw them down at the officer and left. My 

aunt Lucy apparently had gone with him to report in and she retrieved the medals.  

 

JOSH 

She had the better sense to pick them up. 

 

DAVID 

Yeah.  

 

JOSH 

Where do you keep the medals now? 

 

DAVID 

They’re in a safety deposit box in the bank. I take them out once a year and three years ago I was asked to 

become part of the Japanese War Memorial Committee in Stanley Park in Vancouver and we planned the 

annual Remembrance Day service. My first year there, I gave a speech about my grandfather and I had 

the medals and a photograph of him with his medals. Since then, I’ve been a part of the committee and I 

go there every year and embark on the ceremony and I lay the wreath on behalf of Local Branch Number 

Nine, Legion Number Nine. 

 

[ . . . ] 
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